

Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

Journal of Chromatography B



journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/chromb

Review

Enantiomeric separation of organophosphorus pesticides by high-performance liquid chromatography, gas chromatography and capillary electrophoresis and their applications to environmental fate and toxicity assays[‡]

Ling Li^a, Shanshan Zhou^a, Lixia Jin^a, Cheng Zhang^a, Weiping Liu^{a,b,*}

^a Research Center of Green Chirality, Zhejiang University of Technology, Hangzhou 310032, China

^b MOE Key Laboratory of Environmental Remediation and Ecosystem Health, College of Environmental and Resource Sciences,

Zhejiang University, Hangzhou 310027, China

ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 19 August 2009 Accepted 29 October 2009 Available online 5 November 2009

Keywords: Enantiomeric separation Organophosphorus pesticides High-performance liquid chromatography Gas chromatography Capillary electrophoresis Toxicity Environmental fate

ABSTRACT

In recent years, the continuous evolution of the field of stereochemistry has produced a heightened awareness of the applications of pure enantiomers of agrochemicals. This review describes reports of the enantiomeric separation of commercial organophosphorus pesticides (OPs) and the applications of these methods to research on the enantioselectivity of the toxicity and environmental fate of these compounds. Chiral OPs can be analysed by high-performance liquid chromatography (HPLC), gas chromatography (GC), and capillary electrophoresis (CE). These different separation techniques for OP enantiomers are briefly discussed, and their applications are presented.

© 2009 Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved.

Contents

1.	Introduction	1265
2.	Classification of OPs based on the position of chiral centre	1265
	2.1. Chiral phosphorus centres	1265
	2.2. Chiral carbon centres	1265
	2.3. Chiral centres on both phosphorus and carbon atoms	1265
3.	Chromatographic and electrophoretic separation methods for OPs	1266
	3.1. One asymmetric centre	1266
	3.1.1. High-performance liquid chromatography (HPLC)	1266
	3.1.2. Gas chromatography	1271
	3.1.3. Capillary electrophoresis	1271
	3.2. Two asymmetric centres	1273
4.	Applications of enantioselectivity to environmental fate and toxicity.	1274
5.	Conclusions	1275
	Acknowledgements	
	References	1275

^{*} This paper is part of the special issue 'Bioanalysis of Organophosphorus Toxicants and Corresponding Antidotes', Harald John and Horst Thiermann (Guest Editors). * Corresponding author at: Research Center of Green Chirality, Zhejiang University of Technology, Hangzhou 310032, China. Tel.: +86 571 88320666;

fax: +86 571 88320884.

E-mail address: wliu@zjut.edu.cn (W. Liu).

^{1570-0232/\$ –} see front matter 0 2009 Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved. doi:10.1016/j.jchromb.2009.10.031

1. Introduction

The significance of molecular chirality has been widely recognised in the life sciences [1,2]. Many commercial agrochemicals in current use also have chiral centres and thus consist of enantiomers. Enantiomers of chiral compounds have identical physical-chemical properties and thus appear as a single compound in standard analyses. However, due to their stereoselective interactions in biological systems, enantiomers often behave drastically differently in their toxicity and environmental fate.

Among the most important agrochemicals currently used, organophosphorus pesticides (OPs) are widely employed because of their high activity, ease of use and rapid degradation under natural conditions. They have been widely applied as insecticides, herbicides, acaricides, fungicides, and plant growth regulators for controlling disease and growth. The first commercial OP (bladan) was synthesised in the 1930s by German chemist Gerhard Schrader [3]. Until the early 1960s, all OPs were achiral, except for a few compounds such as EPN, cyanofenphos, iprobenphos and edifenphos. In the late 1960s, chiral centres began to be introduced into OPs, giving rise to such compounds as methamidophos, profenofos and salithion [4]. According to Garrison, 30% of OPs currently used are chiral [5], and only one OP, bialaphos, which is a naturally occurring substance possessing a chiral centre, is commercialised in an optically pure state [4].

Since the 1960s, numerous studies have demonstrated that the enantiomers of chiral OPs generally possess different biological activities. Some results have shown that the preferred configuration could be reversed between and among different organisms or between in vitro and in vivo assays [4]. Therefore, in order to reduce pesticide use and protect the environment from unintended effects, it is greatly advantageous to separate the enantiomers of chiral OPs, to study their biological activities in pure enantiomeric forms, and eventually to market the enantiomer that shows higher biological activity.

Generally, there are two ways to obtain enantiopure standards. The first is enantioselective synthesis, which requires the introduction of one or more new and desired elements of chirality. The other is any of a number of enantiomeric separation techniques, which have become increasingly relevant on a preparative scale. Chromatography techniques such as supercritical fluid chromatography (SFC), high-performance liquid chromatography (HPLC) and gas chromatography (GC), and capillary electrophoresis (CE) have long been the methods of choice in the fields of enantiomeric preparation and analysis. In the current literature, many studies have focused on the development of chiral selectors that have contributed to the great advances in chiral separation by chromatographic and electrophoretic techniques [6-10]. This rapid improvement in separation techniques makes these the most effective and widely employed approaches for preparing singleenantiomer standards and for analysing chemical behaviours of enantiomers in the environment.

In this review, we first classify chiral OPs in terms of differences in their stereogenic centres (such as the number and positions of stereogenic centres). Then an overview of the current state of knowledge of HPLC, GC and CE techniques for the chiral separation of OPs is presented, and preferred conditions for the chiral separation of OPs are also discussed. Finally, information concerning the stereoselective toxicity and degradation of OPs, obtained via chromatographic and electrophoretic separation techniques, is presented. Enantioselectivity in toxicological aspects of chiral OPs has also been reported by Kurihara and Miyamoto; however, specific reviews of the chiral separation of OPs are rare, and most of the information dates to before 1995 [4]. Hence, it appeared advisable to update the progress in this field and review the latest information on the enantiomeric separation of



Fig. 1. Chemical structures of chiral phosphates containing asymmetric phosphorus atoms.

OPs and the stereoselectivity of their toxicity and environmental behaviour.

2. Classification of OPs based on the position of chiral centre

Chiral OPs generally can be divided into three broad classes: compounds with asymmetric phosphorus centres, asymmetric carbons, or both.¹ There are 52 chiral OPs described in one current handbook of Agricultural Chemicals [11], and these consist of pesticides, herbicides and fungicides. Specifically, they can be classified as follows.

2.1. Chiral phosphorus centres

According to the diverse substituted groups, OPs with only one chiral centre on a phosphorus atom can be divided into several subclasses, such as phosphates (temivinphos (1) and Nexion (2)), phosphonates and phosphonothioates (EPN (3), EPBP (4), leptophos (5), trichloronate (6), fonofos (7), cyanofenphos (8), inezin (9) and fosamine (10)), phosphoro(di)thiolates (prothiofos (11), sulprofos (12), profenofos (13), pyraclofos (14), Bopardil RM60 (15), diphenprophos (16), tebupirimfos (17), conen (18) and cereton B (19)), phosphoramidothioates (methamidophos (20), acephate (21), fenamiphos (22), crufomate (23), isocarbophos (24), isofenphos (25), isofenphos-methyl (26), propetamphos (27), Dow-ET15 (28), amidothionate (29) and amiprophos-methyl (30)), and cyclic phosphates (salithion (31)). The structures of these compounds are presented in Figs. 1–5.

2.2. Chiral carbon centres

Chiral OPs with a carbon chiral centre include dialifos (**32**), malaoxon (**33**), malathion (**34**), phenthoate (**35**), phenthoate-ethyl (**36**), crotoxyphos (**37**), chlorethoxyfos (**38**), trichlorfon (**39**), naled (**40**), oxydeprofos (**41**), vamidothion (**42**), mephosfolan (**43**), butonate (**44**) and aphos (**45**). Their structures are presented in Fig. 6.

2.3. Chiral centres on both phosphorus and carbon atoms

Some chiral OPs contain one or more asymmetric centres each on both a phosphorus atom and a carbon atom. This class of OPs includes chloramidophos (**46**), methyl-chloramidophos (MCP)(**47**), isomalathion (**48**), fosthiazate (**49**), glufosinate-ammonium (**50**), crmart (**51**) and bialaphos (**52**). The structures of these compounds are shown in Fig. 7.

¹ A small number are compounds with asymmetric sulphur atoms, such as fensulfothion.



Fig. 2. Chemical structures of chiral phosphonates and phosphonothioates containing asymmetric phosphorus atoms.

3. Chromatographic and electrophoretic separation methods for OPs

Chiral recognition, in chromatographic terms, means preferential interaction of one enantiomer of a substance with one enantiomer of a second substance [12]. It implies the existence of a transient complex formed selectively in a mixture of several species. The most commonly used chromatographic separation methods are HPLC and GC. In addition, based on differences in charge, size and hydrophobicity, electrophoretic separation methods are also efficient in chiral separations [13]. The enantiomeric separation of OPs with asymmetric centres at either phosphorus atoms or carbon atoms by these chromatographic and electrophoretic techniques has long been known.

3.1. One asymmetric centre

3.1.1. High-performance liquid chromatography (HPLC)

Due to improvements in HPLC instruments and the commercial availability of chiral stationary phases (CSPs), chiral separation techniques using HPLC have advanced considerably in the past three decades. Recently, HPLC has become useful not only for determining the optical purity of enantiomers but also for preparing enantiopure standards. So far, more than 100 CSPs have been sold commercially [14], and approximately 99% of enantiomeric separations were carried out by HPLC on various CSPs [15]. Based on their different chemical structures, CSPs can be divided into at least seven classes, including Pirkle's type, polysaccharides, cyclodextrins, macrocyclic glycopeptide antibiotics, proteins, crown ethers and ligand exchangers. In the chiral separation of OPs by HPLC, the most effective CSPs are the Pirkle's type and polysaccharides.

3.1.1.1. Enantiomeric separation of OPs by Pirkle type of CSPs. Since the 1980s, the Pirkle group has been devoted to the development of Pirkle CSPs, of which there are now nine types, including α -Burke 2, β -Gem 1, DACH-DNB, Leucine, Phenylglycine, Pirkle 1-J, ULMO, Whelk-O1, and Whelk-O2, both in analytical and preparative sizes [16]. A wide variety of chiral compounds have been resolved on Pirkle CSPs, such as aryl propionic acid, non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs, β -blockers, and many other pharmaceuticals and agrochemicals.

The Pirkle CSPs are derived from N-3,5-dinitrobenzoylamino acids and generally fall into three classes: π -electron acceptor/ π electron donors, π -electron acceptors and π -electron donors [17]. The design of the Pirkle CSPs was based on the three-point chiral recognition model developed by Dalgliesh [18]. That is, enantiomeric separation of a chiral compound requires a minimum of three simultaneous interactions between the CSP and the analyte, with at least one of these interactions being stereo-chemically dependent [12]. With the Pirkle CSPs, chiral recognition occurs at the binding sites. Major binding sites are classified as π -basic or π acidic aromatic rings, which are potential sites for π - π interaction, acidic sites and basic sites, which are both involved in hydrogen bond formation, and steric interaction sites [19]. Because of the covalent nature, Pirkle type CSPs can be utilised in both normalphase mode and reversed-phase mode.

As one of the most widely useful means for controlling pests, plant diseases and weeds, OPs have been investigated by researchers via chiral recognition on Pirkle type columns for



^a Developed by Bombrini Parodi Delfino company in 1965. (no CAS registry number) ^b Began to be used as a fungicide in Japan in 1966. (no CAS registry number)

Fig. 3. Chemical structures of chiral phosphoro(di)thiolates containing asymmetric phosphorus atoms.

some time. Resolution of organophosphorus enantiomers by HPLC using Pirkle CSPs was firstly reported by William H. Pirkle, who developed one of the most successful chiral selectors, (R)-N-(3,5dinitrobenzyl) phenylglycine, in 1981 [20]. In 1997, a series of 14 O-ethyl O-phenyl N-isopropyl phosphoramidothioates containing stereogenic phosphorus atoms was successfully separated enantiomerically on a Sumichiral OA 4700 column by Gao's group [21]. This research group then resolved the enantiomers of 5 O-aryl O-alkyl N-alkyl phosphoramidothioates, which have high herbicidal activities, on the same Pirkle-type column, and the absolute configurations of the enantiomers were obtained through analysis of the circular dichroism (CD) spectra by virtue of the Cotton effect [22]. It was concluded that the enantiomeric separation of those 19 analytes was attributable to two mechanisms: (1) the formation of a π - π complex between the weak π -electron donor group of the Pirkle Model CSP and the weak π -electron acceptor of the organophosphorus compounds and (2) the hydrogen bonding between the donor NH group and acceptor O-R (i.e., O-ethyl, O-phenyl, etc.) group of the CSP and the phosphoramidothioates. In a study by Yen et al., LiChroCART 250-4 (S,S)-Whelk-O1 column and LiChroCART 250-4 (R,R)-Whelk-O1 columns were used for separating the enantiomers of two OPs, leptophos (5) and fenamiphos (22) [23,24], and the specific rotations of the enantiomers were measured using a polarimeter. It was interesting to note that the elution orders of the enantiomers for both compounds on the two

Pirkle type CSPs were reversed. Inversion of the elution order by using Pirkle CSPs in the opposite absolute configuration allows researchers to make trace enantiomers elute before major ones.

The high column efficiency and covalent phase bonding make Pirkle type columns more compatible for use as preparative columns, but it should be noted that Pirkle CSPs are only available for separating the enantiomers of compounds having aromaticity or molecules deriving from aromatic rings. Otherwise, aromatic groups such as aryl moieties must be added to chiral compounds so that good separation can be obtained on such Pirkle type chiral columns. As a result, when using Pirkle CSPs, the separation of enantiomers of chiral OPs with aryl groups may be feasible.

3.1.1.2. Enantiomeric separation by polysaccharide-based CSPs. Chiral polysaccharides have been considered highly efficient CSPs due to their unique advantages, such as high selectivity, sensitivity and reproducibility. According to Zhang et al., more than 95% of racemic compounds have been resolved successfully using polysaccharide CSPs [25]. Cellulose and amylose, the main polysaccharides used, were first recognised as potential chiral selectors by Kotake et al. [26]. However, native polysaccharides cannot be used as CSPs because of the poor resolution and broad analyte peaks obtained, due to the slow transfer and diffusion of compounds through native polymer networks. Accordingly, derivatives of these polymers were synthesised. When natural polysaccharides are modified by reac-



Fig. 4. Chemical structures of chiral phosphoramidothioates containing asymmetric phosphorus atoms.

tion of active hydroxyl groups with appropriate reagents, the chiral selectors produced have greater optical resolving power, indicating a high chiral discrimination capability. In particular, derivatives of cellulose and amylose such as tris-phenylcarbamate and tris-(3, 5-dimethylphenylcarbamate) are readily available optically active polymers, and they are the most widely applicable polysaccharide CSPs.

A series of cellulose-based and amylose-based CSPs including Chiralpak AD, AS, AS-H and Chiralcel OA, OB, OB-H, OC, OD, OF, OG, OJ, OK, etc., has been developed by Okamoto's group. Comparatively speaking, Chiralpak AD, Chiralcel OD and Chiralcel OJ are the most versatile commercial columns, since they are able to resolve more than 80% of chiral compounds [27]. In the late 1980s, researchers began to investigate the chiral recognition ability of polysaccharide CSPs for separation of the enantiomers of OPs. These types of CSPs have also been employed for the semi-preparative separation of pure optical isomers of OPs for toxicology research.



Salithion (33) CAS: 3811-49-2

Fig. 5. Chemical structure of chiral cyclic phosphates containing an asymmetric phosphorus atom.

Some workers have attempted to optimise the chiral separation of OPs by varying the chiral column type, polar modifier, flow rate of the mobile phase, and column temperature [28]. Ellington's group reported the chiral separation of 12 OPs (8 compounds with asymmetric phosphorus atoms: trichloronate (6), fonofos (7), prothiophos (11), profenofos (13), methamidophos (21), fenamiphos (22), crufomate (23), isofenphos (25); 3 compounds with asymmetric carbon atoms: dialifor (32), malathion (34), crotoxyphos (37); and 1 compound with an asymmetric sulphur atom: fensulfothion) on five polysaccharide CSPs, including Chiralpak AD, Chiralpak AS, Chiralcel OD, Chiralcel OJ and Chiralcel OG [28]. It was found that the Chiralcel OJ column showed the best separation ability, permitting 7 of the OPs to be baseline resolved, while the other 5 were partially separated. The Chiralpak AD and Chiralcel OD columns could only resolve the enantiomers of 4 (profenofos (13), fenamiphos (22), crufomate (23) and fensulfothion) and 3 OPs (trichloronate (6), crufomate (23) and methamidophos (21)), respectively. Furthermore, enantiomers of fenamiphos (22) were separated on the Chiralpak AS column, and those of isofenphos (25) were separated on the Chiralcel OG column.

Besides the commercial CSPs, synthesised CSPs have also been used for enantiomeric separation of chiral OPs. Wang et al. described the chiral separation of isocarbophos (**24**) on a synthesised cellulose-tri(3,5-dimethylphenylcarbamate) CSP (CDMPC) under normal phase [14]. Effects of changes in polar modifier and column temperature (from 0 to 50 °C) on the enantioselectivity of CSPs were also investigated. It was noted that: (1) the resolution (R_s) values of enantiomers increased with decreasing amounts of polar modifiers, indicating that the polar modifiers competed with



Dialifos (**32**) CAS: 10311-84-9



Malaoxon (O) (**33**) CAS: 1634-78-2

Malathion (S) (**34**) CAS: 121-75-5

Chlorethoxyfos (38)

Oxydeprofos (41)

CAS: 2674-91-1

CAS: 54593-83-8

Phenthoate R=CH₃ (**35**) CAS: 2597-03-7

Trichlorfon (39)

Vamidothion (42)

CAS: 2275-23-2

Aphos (45)

CAS: 74548-80-4

CAS: 52-68-6

Phenthoate-ethyl R=C₂H₅ (36)



Crotoxyphos (**37**) CAS: 7700-17-6



Naled (**40**) CAS: 300-76-5



Mephosfolan (**43**) CAS: 950-10-7

^a No CAS registry number.

Fig. 6. Chemical structures of chiral phosphates containing asymmetric carbon atoms.

Butonate (44)

CAS: 126-22-7

the solutes for interaction with the CSP; (2) the distinct effect of the five alcohols on the enantiomeric separation of isocarbophos (isopropanol > isobutanol > *n*-propanol > *n*-butanol > ethanol) indicated that the structure of alcohol affects stereoselectivity, probably by changing the environment of the chiral cavity; (3) as the analyte-CSP interactions between the two enantiomers were enhanced at lower temperatures, lower column temperatures resulted in better chiral separation of isocarbophos. Optimal separation was finally achieved with a selectivity factor of 1.89 when using hexane/isopropanol = 95/5 (v/v) as the mobile phase at room temperature. According to Wang et al. [29,30], the synthesised CDMPC column was also employed to resolve the enantiomers of profenofos (13), methamidophos (20), acephate (21), malathion (34) and phenthoate (35). In all these tests, isopropanol always appeared to be the best modifier. Except for the polarity and viscosity of the modifiers, the competition between the alcohol molecules and solutes with the CSP can also influence the chiral separation capability [31]. In another study by Wang et al., an amylose tris-(S)-1-phenylethylcarbamate CSP (similar to a commercial Chiralpak AS column) was synthesised and applied to separate the enantiomers of thirty-two chiral pesticides, 7 of which were OPs [32]. The results demonstrated that only enantiomers of malathion (**34**) could be partially separated on this amylose tris-(S)-1-phenylethylcarbamate CSP, while the other 6 OPs (fonofos (**7**), methamidophos (**20**), acephate (**21**), isocarbophos (**24**), isofenphos-methyl (**26**) and trichlorfon (**39**)) did not achieve any effective chiral resolution [32]. The elution orders of the enantiomers separated above in Wang's work were all determined by a CD detector.

Liu et al. have also studied chiral separation of OPs, especially on polysaccharide-based columns: (1) Trichloronate (**6**) belonged to the phosphonothioates and was investigated on three kinds of



^b Isolated from the stored commercial formulation of chloramidophos in 2009. (no CAS registry number)

Fig. 7. Chemical structures of chiral organophosphorus containing two or more chiral centres.

columns with different CSPs by HPLC [33]. Baseline resolution of the enantiomers of trichloronate was achieved on a Chiralcel OJ column, while no separation was obtained on either a Pirkle-type Sumichiral column (OA-2500-I) or a reverse-phase column (Chiralcel OD-R). The enantiomers were characterised by the optical rotation on the polarimeter and by GC-MS. (2) Enantiomers of methamidophos (20) and isocarbophos (24), which are both phosphoramidothioates, were successfully separated on the Chiralcel OD column [34,35]. The enantiomers were distinguished by the presence of positive or negative peaks in the CD chromatograms (Fig. 8, taking methamidophos (20) as an example). It was important that the absolute stereochemistry of (+)-methamidophos was determined to be of the (R)_p configuration according to Miyazaki et al. [36]. (4) A suite of commercial chiral polysaccharide columns, i.e., Chiralcel OD column, Chiralcel OJ column and Chiralpak AD column, was employed for the enantiomeric separation of salithion (31), a cyclic phosphate [37]. It was found that satisfactory separation of salithion (31) enantiomers could be achieved on all the tested columns, with the Chiralcel AD column offering the best chiral discrimination. The chiral recognition ability of Chiralpak AD for salithion was also better than that of Chiralcel OB and Chiralpak OT (+), according to the studies of Wu et al. [38,39], while the absolute configuration of the individual enantiomers of salithion (31) was deduced from their elution order on the Chiralpak OT (+) column. (5) The enantioselective separation of a series of phosphonates that showed notable herbicidal activity was compared under various chromatographic conditions using a Chiralcel OD column, Chiralcel OJ column, Chiralpak AD column and Chiralpak AS column [40]. It was found that the Chiralpak AD column showed the best chiral separation capacity. It should be noted that the Chiralcel OD column, which had the same D-glucose constituents as the chiral adsorption sites on the Chiralpak AD column, did not show a high chiral separation capacity for phosphonates, implying that the higher order structures arising from the different arrangements of the glucose units might also play a role in the chiral recognition. In addition, the effects of both mobile phase composition and column temperature were discussed, with isopropanol proving the most suitable mobile phase additive in most separation cases.



Fig. 8. Representative optical rotation (OR), CD and UV chromatograms for enantiomeric separation of methamidophos (**20**) on a Chiralcel OD column. Reprinted from [34] with permission.



Fig. 9. Proposed mechanism for chiral recognition: (a) interactions between Chiralpak AD and fenamiphos (**22**); (b) interactions between Chiralcel OJ and crotoxyphos (**37**).

Thus, four commercial polysaccharide CSPs, i.e., Chiralpak AD, Chiralcel AS, Chiralcel OD and Chiralcel OJ, as well as the synthesised CDMPC seem to have high degrees of stereogenic recognition in the separation of chiral OPs. In particular, using Chiralpak AD and Chiralcel OJ columns with isopropanol as the organic modifier at lower temperatures was found to be the preferred set of conditions for separating the enantiomers of chiral OPs. The diversity of chiral recognition mechanisms under these conditions resulted in enantioselectivity. Detailed HPLC separation conditions for the OP enantiomers are shown in Table 1. These interactions are so complex that few articles have elucidated the roles of the different intermolecular forces and modes in chiral separation, but the main mechanisms may include: (1) dipole-dipole interactions, i.e., a carbonyl group (C=O) with a C=O group; (2) hydrogen bonding associations, i.e., a C=O group with a NH group; (3) π - π interactions, i.e., between a π -electron acceptor group and a π -electron donor group; (4) steric interactions, i.e., the degree of steric fit into the chiral cavities of CSPs. The proposed interactions for chiral recognition are illustrated in Fig. 9 (using the interactions of Chiralpak AD with fenamiphos (22) and Chiralcel OJ with crotoxyphos (37) as examples). As a result of the various interactions mentioned above, transient diastereomeric complexes of different stabilities may be formed between enantiomers and CSPs. Furthermore, changes in the type of CSP, the structure of the analyte, or the chromatographic conditions such as mobile phase composition and column temperature can influence the chiral recognition. For example, (1) the structures of CSPs and analytes can affect chiral recognition directly due to the different interactions of the groups between CSPs and analytes; (2) the organic alcohol modifier can alter the steric environment of the chiral cavities on CSPs by bonding to achiral sites at or near the chiral cavity. As a result, changes in the polarity of the mobile phase due to varying the percentage or the type of polar modifier can greatly influence the elution time and resolution; (3) column temperature is a potential factor not only affecting the viscosity and diffusion coefficient of solutes but also impacting the thermodynamics of interactions. Thus, by calculating the standard enthalpy and entropy values of sorbed vs. dissolved constituents, the driving force for the transfer of enantiomers from the mobile phase to the stationary phase can be deduced.

3.1.2. Gas chromatography

GC is among the earliest chromatographic techniques used for enantiomeric separation. The first successful chiral separation of enantiomers by GC on a CSP was reported by Gil-Av et al. at the Weizmann Institute of Science in Israel during the late 1960s. GC has a number of advantages: (1) contaminants and impurities can usually be separated from the analytes, and the enantiomeric compositions in mixtures can also be precisely determined; (2) the delicate choices of solvents, modifiers and gradient elution systems that characterise HPLC separations are not necessary for GC methods. As of 2000, the GC separation of 22,000 enantiomers involving 5500 basic chiral compounds had already been reported [41]. Many reversible diastereomeric associations between enantiomers and chiral selectors such as inclusion, hydrogen-bonding, dispersion forces, dipole-dipole interactions, electrostatic interactions and hydrophobic interactions have been reported to play a role in the chiral recognition of compounds by GC [42]. In 1979, direct GC separation of enantiomers of several O-alkyl O-aryl Nisopropylphosphoroamidothioates was described by Ôi et al. [43]. However, no clear picture of the mechanisms of chiral discrimination has emerged from the data reported thus far. Due to the difficulties in finding appropriate enantioselective chromatography columns, especially commercial ones, there are relatively few publications concerning the chiral separation of OPs using GC in comparison with HPLC chromatographic methods. Therefore, based on an empirical selection of CSPs, most chiral OPs cannot be separated by GC, in spite of the high efficiency and sensitivity of this method. However, there are still some notable exceptions, which are described below.

Fidalgo-Used et al. compared two different commercially available chiral columns for chiral separation of 13 OPs by GC with flame ionisation detection (FID) [44]. According to the authors, a Chirasil-Val column with a stationary phase consisting of Lvaline-tert-butylamide directly bonded to dimethylpolysiloxane did not possess an enantiomeric discrimination for the OPs. By contrast, a CP-Chirasil-Dex CB column, the stationary phase of which consisted of heptakis (2,3,6-tri-O-metil)-β-CD molecules directly bonded to dimethylpolysiloxane, was demonstrated to resolve the enantiomers of ruelene (23) and trichlorfon (39). In addition, the enantiomers of methamidophos (20), isophenphos (25), chlorethoxyfos (38) and naled (40) were also partially separated. It was concluded that not only the formation of an inclusion complex with cyclodextrins but also the presence of halogen atoms in the phenyl ring resulted in the diverse resolution results. Furthermore, two different detection systems, a classical electron capture detector (ECD) and an inductively coupled plasma mass spectrometry (ICP-MS), were employed for monitoring the enantiomers of ruelene (23) in environmental samples by Fidalgo-Used et al. [45]. It was found that the ICP-MS detector was superior to the ECD in terms of both selectivity and sensitivity. In addition, the detection limit (three times the standard deviation of the background divided by the slope of the calibration curve) using ICP-MS was found to be as low as 27 ng L⁻¹ for each enantiomer of ruelene. The excellent resolution of ruelene (23) suggested that a phenyl ring with a chlorine atom in its structure may play an important role in forming inclusion complexes with cyclodextrin. In addition, CSPs based on modified cyclodextrins were utilised for separating the enantiomers of five other OPs [46,47]. The detailed GC separation conditions of these OP enantiomers are illustrated in Table 2.

3.1.3. Capillary electrophoresis

As a complementary analytical technique for HPLC and GC, CE has also been employed widely in the field of enantiomeric _

Table 1 Enantiomeric separation of OPs by HPLC.

Classes	Commercial names	Separation conditions	Rotation	Ref.
A	Leptophos (5)	LiChroCART250-4(S,S)-Whelk-O1 ^a LiChroCART250-4(R,R)-Whelk-O1 ^a , <i>n</i> -hexane/dichloromethane = 97/3, rt ^b . UV = 210 nm	-/+ +/-	[23]
	Trichloronate (6)	Chiralcel OD (R_s = 1.3), <i>n</i> -heptane/ethanol = 100/0, 15 °C, 1.0 mL/min	ud ^c	[28]
		Chiralcel OJ ^a , <i>n</i> -hexane/ <i>n</i> -heptane/ethanol = 90/5/5, rt, 1.0 mL/min,	+/	[33]
	Fonofos (7)	UV = 300 mm Chiralcel OJ ^a , <i>n</i> -heptane/ethanol = 90/10, 25 °C, 1.0 mL/min, UV = 202 nm	+/	[28]
	Prothiophos (11)	Chiralcel OJ ^a , <i>n</i> -heptane/ethanol = 98/2, 15 °C, 1.0 mL/min, UV = 202 nm	+/	[28]
	Profenofos (13)	Chiralpak AD ^a , <i>n</i> -heptane/ethanol = 98/2, 15 °C, 1.0 mL/min	+/	[28]
		Chiralcel OJ ^a , <i>n</i> -hexane/ethanol = 99.5/0.5, 5 °C, 0.8 mL/min, UV = 202 nm	+/	[28]
	Methamidophos (20)	Chiralcel OD ^a , <i>n</i> -heptane/ethanol = 90/10, rt, 1.0 mL/min	+/-	[28]
		Chiralcel OJ ^a , <i>n</i> -hexane/ethanol = 93.5/6.5, 5 °C, 0.8 mL/min, UV = 200 nm Synthesised CDMPC ^a <i>n</i> -hexane/isopropanol = 90/10, 20 °C, 1,0 mL/min	+/	[28]
		UV = 230 nm Chiralcel OD ^a , <i>n</i> -hexane/isopropanol = 80/20, 25 °C, 0.5 mL/min,	+/	[34]
	Acophate (71)	UV = 230 nm	+1	[36]
	Fenaminhos (22)	LiChroCART250-4/S S)-Whelk-O1a	.,	[30]
	(22)	LiChroCART250-4(R,R)-Whelk-O1 ^a , n -hexane/isopropanol = 95/5, rt, UV = 210 nm	+/	[24]
		Chiralpak AS ^a , <i>n</i> -heptane/ethanol=90/10, rt, 1.0 mL/min	_/+	[28]
		Chiralpak AD ^a , <i>n</i> -heptane/ethanol = 90/10, 25 °C, 1.0 mL/min	+/	[28]
		Chiralcel OJ (R_s = 1.08), <i>n</i> -hexane/ethanol = 99.1/0.9, 40 °C, 0.5 mL/min, UV = 203 nm	+/	[28]
	Isocarbophos (24)	Synthesised CDMPC ^a , <i>n</i> -hexane/isopropanol = 90/10, 25 °C, 1.0 mL/min, UV = 225 nm	ud	[14]
		Chiralcel OD ^a , <i>n</i> -hexane/isopropanol = 90/10, 25 °C, 0.8 mL/min,	+/	[35]
	Isofenphos (25)	Chiralcel OG ($R_s = 1.1$), <i>n</i> -heptane/isopropanol = 98/2, 25 °C, 1.0 mL/min	+/	[28]
		Chiralcel OJ ($R_s = 1.11$), <i>n</i> -hexane/ethanol = 99.4/0.6, 10 °C, 0.3 mL/min,	+/	[28]
	Salithion (31)	UV = 201 nm Chiralcel OJª, n-hexane/isopropanol = 95/5, 25 °C, 1.0 mL/min, UV = 220 nm	+/-; R/S	[37]
		Chiralcel OD (R_s = 1.42), <i>n</i> -hexane/isopropanol = 99.5/0.5, 25 °C,	+/-; R/S	[37]
		1.0 mL/min, UV = 220 nm Chiralpak AD ^a , <i>n</i> -hexane/isopropanol = 99.5/0.5, 25 °C, 1.0 mL/min, UV = 220 nm	+/-; R/S	[37]
		Chiralpak OT(+) ^a , methanol, rt, 1.0 mL/min, UV = 254 nm	—/+; S/R	[38]
		Chiralcel OB ^a , <i>n</i> -hexane/isopropanol = 10/1, rt, 0.3 mL/min, UV = 254 nm	+/-; <i>R/S</i>	[39]
В	Dialifor (32)	Chiralcel OJ ^a , <i>n</i> -hexane/ethanol = 90/10, 20 °C, 0.9 mL/min, UV = 220 nm	+/	[28]
	Malathion (34)	Chiralcel OJ ^a , <i>n</i> -hexane/ethanol = 90/10, 20 °C, 0.9 mL/min, UV = 210 nm	+/	[28]
	Phenthoate (35)	Synthesised CDMPC ^a , <i>n</i> -hexane/isopropanol = 99/1, 5 °C, 1.0 mL/min, UV = 210 nm Synthesised CDMPC ^a , <i>n</i> -hexane/isopropanol = 99 5/0 5, 20 °C	+/	[30]
	inclution (33)	0.5 mL/min Chiralcel OD ^a , <i>n</i> -hexane/isopropanol = 100/0.8, 1 mL/min, UV = 230 nm	+/	[23]
	Crotoxyphos (37)	Chiralcel OJ ^a , n-hexane/ethanol = 90/10, 20 °C, 0.9 mL/min, UV = 211 nm	_/+	[28]
С	Chloramidophos (46)	Chiralpak AD ^a , <i>n</i> -hexane/ethanol = 90/10, 25 °C, 1.0 mL/min, LIV = 230 nm	_/+/+/_	[55]
	MCP (47)	Chiralpak AD ^a , <i>n</i> -hexane/ethanol = $85/15$, $25 \circ$ C, 1.0 mL/min ,	+/+/_/_	[57]
	Isomalathion (48)	UV = 220 nm Chiralpak AD ^a , <i>n</i> -hexane/isopropanol = 90/10, 0.4 mL/min, UV = 215 nm	(1R,3R)/(1S,3R)/(1S,3S)/(1R,3S)	[56]
	Glufosinate-ammonium (50)	Inertsil ODS-2 column, 10 mM ammonium acetate (pH		[59]
D	Engulfathion	5.0)/acetonitrile = 77/23, 40 °C, 0.8 mL/min, fluorescence detection: 260 nm (excitation) and 305 nm (emission) Chiralack ADB a heatane(othane) = 02(10, 25 °C, 1 mL/min		[20]
U	rensulloulloll	Chiraleel OL($R = 1.21$) is beyond (other set $CC/4$, 40% C, 0.8 mL/min	-/ *	[28]
		V = 201 nm	- <i>I</i> +	[28]

A: OPs with only one chiral centre at a phosphorus atom; B: OPs with only one chiral centre at a carbon atom. C: OPs with two chiral centres at both a phosphorus atom and a carbon atom. D: OPs with only one chiral centre at a sulphur atom.

^a R_s > 1.5.
^b Room temperature.

^c Undetermined.

Table 2
Enantiomeric separation of OPs by GO

Classes	Commercial names	Separation condition	Ref.
A	Methamidophos (20)	GC-FID ($R_s = 0.67$) CP-Chirasil-Dex CB 50 °C (1 min) 20 °C min ⁻¹ to 120 °C	[44]
	Ruelene (23)	GC-FID ^a CP-Chirasil-Dex CB 50°C (1 min) 20°C min ⁻¹ to 190°C (50 min) GC-ECD (or) GC-ICP-MS ^a CP. Chirasil Day CP.	[44] [45]
		CP-Chirasil-Dex CB 50 °C (1 min) 40 °C min ⁻¹ to 190 °C (40 min)	
	Isofenphos (25)	GC-FID ($R_s = 1.03$) CP-Chirasil-Dex CB 50 °C (1 min) 10 °C min ⁻¹ to 125 °C 0.2 °C min ⁻¹ to 190 °C	[44]
В	Chlorethoxyfos (38)	GC-FID (<i>R</i> _s = 0.69) CP-Chirasil-Dex CB 50 °C (1 min) 10 °C min ⁻¹ to 110 °C (40 min) 0.2 °C min ⁻¹ to 190 °C (10 min)	[44]
	Trichlorfon (39)	GC-FID ^a CP-Chirasil-Dex CB 160 °C (30 min)	[44]
	Naled (40)	GC-FID ($R_s = 0.89$) CP-Chirasil-Dex CB 50 °C (1 min) 10 °C min ⁻¹ to 110 °C (40 min) 0.2 °C min ⁻¹ to 190 °C (10 min)	[44]

A: OPs with only one chiral centre at a phosphorus atom; B: OPs with only one chiral centre at a carbon atom.

^a $R_s > 1.5$.

separation. It has many interesting characteristics such as high separation efficiency, ease of operation, short analysis time and low sample and electrolyte consumption. CE is also a versatile separation method because it can be applied to a wide variety of analytes, thanks to the various modes that can be used [48]. To date, six separation modes of CE have been successfully used in chiral separation: capillary zone electrophoresis (CZE), capillary gel electrophoresis (CGE), micellar electrokinetic chromatography (MECC or MEKC), capillary isoelectric focusing (CIEF), capillary isotachophoresis (CITP) and capillary electrochromatography (CEC). In the chiral separation of OPs by CE, cyclodextrin and its derivatives are often used as the chiral selector, and MEKC is the most commonly used mode.

Schmitt et al. chose five chiral selectors, including α -CD, β -CD, γ -CD, hydroxypropyl- β -cyclodextrin (HP- β -CD), dimethyl- β cyclodextrin (DM- β -CD) and trimethyl- β -cyclodextrin (TM- β -CD), which differed in both their cavity diameters and lipophilic properties, to investigate their effects on the MEKC-separation of the enantiomers of 5 OPs [49]. It was observed that the enantiomers of ruelene (crufomate 23), dialifos (32) and malathion (34) can be separated using HP- β -CD, β -CD and/or γ -CD in 10 min, whereas the enantiomers of isofenphos (25) and fenamiphos (22) could not be separated under the same experimental conditions. It was presumed that too many bulky groups bonded to the chiral atom could limit the formation of inclusion complexes with cyclodextrin molecules with too small a diameter, such as α -CD. In another study, Lewis et al. also demonstrated the effective chiral separation of ruelene (23) by CE in the MEKC mode [50]. Huang's studies focused on separating the enantiomers of poorly water-soluble phosphoro(di)thiolates, including prothiophos (11), sulprofos (12), profenofos (13) and pyraclofos (14) [51]. Both non-aqueous and aqueous-organic CE media were employed. Generally, a surfactant could not be used to improve the resolution in non-aqueous solutions because micelle formation was limited, due to the weakness of hydrophobic interactions, preventing surfactants from aggregating [52]. However, good enantiomeric resolution was achieved for pyraclofos (14) when large amounts of sodium cholate (SC) and sodium dodecyl sulphate (SDS) were added as chiral selectors, with an analysis time of only 3.5 min. It was concluded

that the high polarity of SC was favourable to the formation of micelles and enhanced the formation of inclusion complexes of these micelles with the hydrophobic pyraclofos (14). On the other hand, the presence of H₂O also appeared to be particularly useful for the chiral separation of poorly water-soluble OPs. García-Ruiz et al. investigated the efficiencies of three chiral selectors, carboxymethylated γ -cyclodextrin (CM- γ -CD), carboxymethylated $\beta\text{-cyclodextrin}$ (CM- $\beta\text{-CD})$ and $\beta\text{-cyclodextrin}$ sulphated ($\beta\text{-CD}$ sulphated), in the separation of 8 chiral OPs under different experimental condition [53]. This method was confirmed to be suitable for the determination of malathion (34) enantiomers in water samples spiked at µg/mL levels, and it played an important role in validating analyses of trace chiral OPs. Anigbogu et al. reported a chiral separation process for OPs using mixed-mode electrokinetic capillary chromatography (mixed-mode ECC), i.e., a combination of MECC and dual-cyclodextrin electrokinetic capillary chromatography (dual-CECC) [54]. It was demostrated that the versatility of the mixed-mode ECC in handing separation of OP enantiomers was achieved by combining three or more pseudostationary phases in the background electrolyte (BGE). The authors suggested that approaches to optimise the enantioselectivity in mixed-mode ECC were generally more straightforward than changes in the CSPs used in HPLC and GC. Detailed CE separation conditions for OPs are illustrated in Table 3.

Mechanisms responsible for the enantiomeric separation are similar in both chromatographic and electrophoretic techniques. Briefly, all chiral resolution is attributable to the enantioselective interactions between the analyte enantiomers and chiral selectors. However, a lack of injection precision and detection sensitivity limits the application of CE for enantiomeric separation when compared to HPLC and GC. In addition, only small amounts of the sample can be separated by this technique. To date, no reports have been published describing separation of OP enantiomers by CE on a semipreparative scale.

3.2. Two asymmetric centres

Considerable attention has been paid to the enantiomeric resolution of OPs with only one asymmetric centre; however, research

I lietal	/Τ	Chromatogr	R 878	(2010)	1264-1276
L. LI EL UI.	/ 1.	Chiomatogi.	0010	(2010)	1204-1270

Table 3		
Enantiomeric separation of OPs	by	CE.

Classes	Commercial names	Separation conditions	Ref.
А	Prothiophos (11)	75 mM SC and 20 mM γ-CD in methanol/H ₂ O/ACN (5/4/1) (R. = 0.99)	[51]
	Sulprofos (12)	50 mM SC and 10 mM γ -CD in methanol/H ₂ O/ACN (5/4/1) ($R_s = 1.12$)	[51]
	Profenofos (13)	50 mM SC and 20 mM γ -CD in methanol/H ₂ O/ACN (5/4/1) ($R_s = 1.36$)	[51]
	Pyraclofos (14)	100 mM SDS and 50 mM SC in methanol/ACN (4/1) ^a	[51]
	Fenamiphos (22)	20 mM CM-β-CD in 25 mM Tris buffer (pH 7.0), 25 °C, 24 kV ($R_s = 0.6$)	[53]
	Ruelene (23)	100 mM SDS and 40 mM DM-β-CD and 15% methanol in 40 mM borate buffer (pH 9), 30 °C, 30 kV (α^{b} = 1.024)	[49]
		70 mM SDS and 15 mM CM-β-CD and 45 mM HP-β-CD and 20% ACN in 20 mM borate buffer (pH 8.6), 25 °C, 25 kV°	[54]
		100 mM SDS and 40 mM 2- HP-β-CD and 20% CAN in 20 mM tetraborate buffer (pH 8.5), 20 kV	[50]
В	Dialifor (32)	100 mM SDS and 40 mM γ -CD and 10% methanol in 40 mM borate buffer (pH 9), 30 °C, 30 kV (α = 1.057)	[49]
	Malathion (34)	100 mM SDS and 65 mM HP- β -CD and none methanol in 40 mM borate buffer (pH 9), 30 °C, 30 kV (α = 1.014)	[49]
		10 mM SDS and 50 mM CM- β -CD and 40 mM HP- β -CD and 20% methanol in 20 mM borate buffer (pH 8.6), 25 °C, 25 kV ^c	[54]
		20 mM CM-β-CD in 25 mM Tris buffer (pH 7.0), 25 °C, 24 kV ($R_s = 1.4$)	[53]
	Phenthoate (35)	20 mM CM- β -CD in 25 mM Tris buffer (pH 7.0), 25 °C, 24 kV ^a	[53]
С	Isomalathion (48)	20 mM CM-β-CD in 25 mM Tris buffer (pH 7.0), 25 °C, 24 kV (only three peaks) (R_s = 2.5, 1.1)	[53]
D	Fensulfothion	75 mM SDS and 12.5 mM CM-β-CD and 45 mM HP-β-CD and 20% methanol in 20 mM borate buffer (pH 8.6), 25 °C, 25 kV ^c	[54]

A: OPs with only one chiral centre at a phosphorus atom; B: OPs with only one chiral centre at a carbon atom; C: OPs with two chiral centres at both a phosphorus atom and a carbon atom; D: OPs with only one chiral centre at a sulphur atom.

^a $R_s > 1.5$.

^b Separation factor α .

^c Either R_s or α is unmentioned in article.

related to the enantiomeric separation of OPs with two asymmetric centres is still limited to 5 compounds, i.e., four insecticides, chloramidophos (46), MCP (47) (O,S-dimethyl-N-(2,2,2-trichloro-1-methoxyethyl)phosphoramidothioate), isomalathion (48), fosthiazate (49), and one herbicide, glufosinate-ammonium (50). It was interesting to find that successful HPLC separations of the optical isomers of the four insecticides were all obtained using Chiralpak AD columns [55-58]. Hori et al. developed an indirect chromatographic method to quantify glufosinate-ammonium (50) enantiomers in biological specimens using reverse-phase HPLC with an Inertsil ODS-2 column [59]. Furthermore, García-Ruiz et al. investigated the enantioselectivity of isomalathion using CE [53]. Detailed HPLC separation conditions for OP enantiomers are illustrated in Table 1. However, there are no published reports concerning the enantiomeric separation of OPs with two chiral centres by GC.

4. Applications of enantioselectivity to environmental fate and toxicity

Enantioselective toxicity and environmental behaviour of chiral OPs are two topics of great interest in environmental chemistry. Traditionally, the individual enantiomeric standards necessary for environmental chemistry research on these topics were obtained via asymmetric syntheses [36,56,60]. With the development of chromatographic and electrophoretic methods for the separation of OP enantiomers, an opportunity was created not only for preparing enantiopure standards but also for analysing the enantiomers in environmental samples. This advance in chromatographic and electrophoretic techniques has further developed our understanding of the environmental safety of various chiral compounds. HPLC has been the primary technique used for preparing individual enantiomers, even though only small amounts (<10 mg, generally) can be obtained by manual collection at the outlet of HPLC detectors. As a result, enantioselective toxicity research is presently limited to experiments using in vitro enzyme kinetics assays, either in cell models or with sensitive aquatic organisms. However, the biggest advantage of HPLC in enantiomeric separation is that the manually collected enantiomers often have high enantiopurity (>98%).

Enantiomeric separation of chiral OPs by chromatographic and electrophoretic separation methods has been well studied, as described in the previous sections. Based on these separation techniques, many acute toxicity studies have been carried out for OPs in enantiomeric form. In the study of Lin et al., a 50-fold difference in toxicity to Daphnia magna (D. magna) was observed between the two enantiomers of isocarbophos (24), and the joint toxicity of the enantiomers was additive [35]. Furthermore, regardless of the magnitude of enantioselectivity, either diverse species or stereoselectivity in metabolic processes could cause apparent diversity or even reversal of the relative potency of enantiomers for in vivo and in vitro assays. The (+)-form of fenamiphos (22) was found to be roughly 20 times more toxic to *D. magna* (in vivo), but only about four times more inhibitory to the activity of butyrylcholinesterase (in vitro) than the (-)-form [24]. The (+)-enantiomer of profenofos (13) as well as that of fonofos (7) was less toxic in vivo to D. magna and Ceriodaphnia dubia (C. dubia) [61]; however, it had higher activity against both electric eel acetylcholinesterase (EE-AChE) and human recombinant acetylcholinesterase (HR-AChE) (in vitro) than its antipode [62]. The (-)-isomer of methamidophos (20) was more potent as measured by in vitro enzyme assays, but it was less toxic to D. magna in vivo than its (+)-isomer [34]. Converse results were observed on salithion (**31**) enantiomers [37]. The above OPs all contain an asymmetric phosphorus atom. In addition, crotoxyphos (**37**), which contains a carbon chiral centre, also has different stereoselective toxicity in diverse species [62]. The EE-AChE inhibitor potencies of four isomers of fosthiazate (**49**), which has two chiral centres, were slightly stereoselective, whereas a 3.1-fold difference was observed in the acute toxicity of these isomers to *D. magna* [58].

Additionally, in addition to acute toxicity, long-term exposure to OPs can also be dangerous. Many techniques such as solid-phase microextraction (SPME)–GC and liquid–liquid microextraction–GC have been developed for determination of OPs in their racemic forms in biological fluids such as urine and blood [63,64]. However, no reports concerning the determination of OP enantiomers in biological fluids have been published, though it is known that the limits of detection of several OP enantiomers by GC and CE can reach ng/mL and μ g/mL levels, respectively [45,53]. Therefore, after proper cleanup steps, the determination of certain OP enantiomers in biological fluids by chromatographic and electrophoretic techniques should be feasible in theory.

Besides potential differences in their toxic effects on target and non-target species, enantiomers can also differ in their degradations and transformations in the environment. Therefore, determination of the relative persistence of OP enantiomers is important for assessing their environmental risk. Lewis et al. and Jarman et al. studied the environmental behaviour of ruelene (23) using MEKC methods [50,65]. It was found that the transformation rates of racemic ruelene (23) only depended on the soil texture, but differences in air temperature and vegetation cover can change the preferentially degraded enantiomer. Li et al. reported that the more active (+)-enantiomer of phenthoate (35) degraded faster than its antipode in both Tianjin and Hubei soils [66]. Furthermore, due to chemical processes, significant enantiomerisation of (+)phenthoate to (-)-phenthoate occurred in both non-sterilised and sterilised soils. In addition, this chiral inversion also depended on pH. However, in Jarman's study, no selectivity was observed in the transformation of fonofos, since the enantiomer fraction (EF) after 8 weeks incubation was the same as that of the racemic standard [65].

5. Conclusions

Over the last two decades, the development of techniques for the separation and determination of OP enantiomers has made great contributions to the study of their relative toxicity and environmental fate. Chromatographic and electrophoretic approaches continue to take a leading role in the chiral separation of OPs. In this review, we conclude that, of the 52 chiral OPs listed in the Encyclopedia of Agricultural Chemicals, enantiomers of 26 have been reportedly separated by HPLC, GC and CE over the last two decades. Among the three methods, HPLC was the most widely used, with 20 of these 26 chiral OPs successfully separated using HPLC with various CSPs. In addition, pure enantiomeric standards prepared by HPLC have been widely used in environmental research, while no reports of the isolation of OP enantiomers on a semi-preparative scale by GC or CE have been published. However, HPLC methods for separating enantiomers only produce quantities sufficient for bioassays calling for relatively low amounts of these compounds (generally less than 10 mg). In view of the high demand for optically pure enantiomers and in order to evaluate the enantiomer-specific environmental fate and toxicity of these compounds, the development and improvement of these separation techniques, especially on the preparative scale, are highly desirable. Furthermore, lower limits of detection for OP enantiomers by chromatographic and electrophoretic techniques are needed in order to analyse OP enantiomer residues in biological fluids for evaluating the effects of enantioselective metabolic processes on OPs.

Acknowledgements

The authors gratefully acknowledge the financial support of the National Natural Science Foundations of China (Nos. 20837002, 30771255), the Natural Science Foundation of Zhejiang Province, China (No. Z506070), the National Basic Research Program of China (2009CB421603), the Program for Changjiang Scholars, Innovative Research Teams in Chinese Universities (No. IRT 0653), and Special Funding Project for Public industry research of Ocean (No. JG0721).

References

- [1] A.S. Garay, Nature 271 (1978) 186.
- [2] A. Williams, Pestic. Sci. 46 (1996) 3.
- [3] L.G. Costa, Clin. Chim. Acta 366 (2006) 1.
- [4] N. Kurihara, J. Miyamoto, Chirality in Agrochemicals, John Wiley & Sons, Chichester, 1998.
- [5] A.W. Garrison, Environ. Sci. Technol. 40 (2006) 16.
- [6] T.J. Ward, Anal. Chem. 72 (2000) 4521.
- [7] T.J. Ward, Anal. Chem. 74 (2002) 2863.
- [8] T.J. Ward, D.M. Hamburg, Anal. Chem. 76 (2004) 4635.
- [9] T.J. Ward, Anal. Chem. 78 (2006) 3947.
- [10] T.J. Ward, B.A. Baker, Anal. Chem. 80 (2008) 4363.
- [11] Y. Zhu, Z. Wang, B. Li, Handbook of Agricultural Chemicals, Three Gorges Publishing House, Beijing, 2006.
- [12] W.H. Pirkle, T.C. Pochapsky, Chem. Rev. 89 (1989) 347.
- [13] G. Subramanian, Chiral Separation Techniques, Wiley-VCH, Weinheim, 2001.
- [14] P. Wang, S.R. Jiang, D.H. Liu, G.F. Jia, Q.X. Wang, P. Wang, Z.Q. Zhou, Biomed. Chromatogr. 19 (2005) 454.
- [15] I. Ali, K. Saleem, I. Hussain, V.D. Gaitonde, H.Y. Aboul-Enein, Sep. Purif. Rev. 38 (2009) 97.
- [16] Regis Technologies Inc., http://www.registech.com/Markets/Chromatography/ Chiral/Pirkle.html.
- [17] Regis Technologies Inc., Chiral Application Guide.
- [18] C.E. Dalgliesh, J. Chem. Soc. 137 (1952) 3940.
- [19] L.R. Chen, Chiral Separation by HPLC, Science press, Beijing, 2006.
- [20] W.H. Pirkle, J.M. Finn, J.L. Schreiner, B.C. Hamper, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 103 (1981) 3964.
- [21] R.Y. Gao, G.S. Yang, H.Z. Yang, Z.Y. Chen, Q.S. Wang, J. Chromatogr. A 763 (1997) 125.
- [22] R.Y. Gao, H.F. Wang, Z.Y. Chen, H.Z. Yang, Q.S. Wang, Chromatographia 51 (2000) 322.
- [23] J.H. Yen, C.C. Tsai, Y.S. Wang, Ecotox. Environ. Safe 55 (2003) 236.
- [24] Y.S. Wang, K.T. Tal, J.H. Yen, Ecotox. Environ. Safe 57 (2004) 346.
- [25] T. Zhang, C. Kientzy, P. Franco, A. Ohnishi, Y. Kagamihara, H. Kurosawa, J. Chromatogr. A 1075 (2005) 65.
- [26] M. Kotake, T. Sakan, N. Nakamura, S. Senoh, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 73 (1951) 2973.
- [27] E. Yashima, Y. Okamoto, Bull. Chem. Soc. Jpn. 68 (1995) 3289.
- [28] J.J. Ellington, J.J. Evans, K.B. Prickett, W.L. Champion, J. Chromatogr. A 928 (2001) 145.
- [29] P. Wang, Z.Q. Zhou, G.B. Ye, P. Wang, H. Ren, Q.X. Wang, S.R. Jiang, Chin. J. Pest. 43 (2004) 542.
- [30] P. Wang, S.R. Jiang, D.H. Liu, H.J. Zhang, Z.Q. Zhou, J. Agric. Food Chem. 54 (2006) 1577.
- [31] H.Y. Aboul-Enein, I. Ali, J. Biochem. Biophys. Method 48 (2001) 175.
- [32] P. Wang, D.H. Liu, X.Q. Lei, S.R. Jiang, Z.Q. Zhou, J. Sep. Sci. 29 (2006) 265.
- [33] W.P. Liu, K.D. Lin, J.Y. Gan, Chirality 18 (2006) 713.
- [34] K. Lin, S.S. Zhou, C. Xu, W.P. Liu, J. Agric. Food Chem. 54 (2006) 8134.
- [35] K.D. Lin, W.P. Liu, L. Li, J. Gan, J. Agric. Food Chem. 56 (2008) 4273.
- [36] A. Miyazaki, T. Nakamura, M.S. Kawaradani, J. Agric. Food Chem. 36 (1988) 835.
- [37] S.S. Zhou, K. Lin, L. Li, M. Jin, J. Ye, W. Liu, Chirality (2009).
- [38] S.Y. Wu, A. Hirashima, E. Kuwano, M. Eto, Agric. Biol. Chem. 51 (1987) 537.
- [39] S.Y. Wu, A. Hirashima, M. Eto, K. Yanagi, E. Nishioka, K. Moriguchi, Agric. Biol. Chem. 53 (1989) 157.
- [40] L. Li, S.S. Zhou, M.R. Zhao, A.P. Zhang, H. Peng, X.S. Tan, C.M. Lin, H.W. He, Chirality 20 (2008) 130.
- [41] B. Koppenhoefer, GIT Labor-Fachzeitschrift 42 (1998) 716.
- [42] V. Schurig, J. Chromatogr. A 906 (2001) 275.
- [43] N. Ôi, M. Horiba, H. Kitahara, Agric. Biol. Chem. 43 (1979) 24030.
- [44] N. Fidalgo-Used, E. Blanco-Gonzalez, A. Sanz-Medel, Talanta 70 (2006) 1057.
 [45] N. Fidalgo-Used, M. Montes-Bayon, E. Blanco-Gonzalez, A. Sanz-Medel, J. Anal. At. Spectrom. 21 (2006) 876.
- [46] W.A. Konig, D. Icheln, T. Runge, B. Pfaffenberger, P. Ludwig, H. Huhnerfuss, J. High Resolut. Chromatogr. 14 (1991) 530.
- [47] I.H. Hardt, C. Wolf, B. Gehrcke, D.H. Hochmuth, B. Pfaffenberger, H. Huhnerfuss, W.A. Konig, J. High Resolut. Chromatogr. 17 (1994) 859.
- [48] A. Varenne, S. Descroix, Anal. Chim. Acta 628 (2008) 9.

- [49] P. Schmitt, A.W. Garrison, D. Freitag, A. Kettrup, J. Chromatogr. A 792 (1997) 419.
- [50] D.L. Lewis, A.W. Garrison, K.E. Wommack, A. Whittemore, P. Steudler, J. Melillo, Nature 401 (1999) 898.
- [51] L. Huang, J.M. Lin, L.J. Xu, G.N. Chen, Electrophoresis 28 (2007) 2758.
- [52] M.L. Riekkola, M. Jussila, S.P. Porras, I.E. Valko, J. Chromatogr. A 892 (2000) 155.
- [53] C. García-Ruiz, G. Alvarez-Llamas, A. Puerta, E. Blanco, A. Sanz-Medel, M.L.
- Marina, Anal. Chim. Acta 543 (2005) 77. [54] V.C. Anigbogu, H. Woldeab, A.W. Garrison, J.K. Avants, Int. J. Environ. Anal. Chem. 83 (2003) 89.
- [55] S.S. Zhou, K.D. Lin, H.Y. Yang, L. Li, W.P. Liu, J. Li, Chem. Res. Toxicol. 20 (2007) 400.
- [56] C.E. Berkman, C.M. Thompson, S.R. Perrin, Chem. Res. Toxicol. 6 (1993) 718.
- [57] S.S. Zhou, L.M. Wang, L. Li, W.P. Liu, J. Agric. Food Chem. 57 (2009) 6920.
- [58] K.D. Lin, F. Zhang, S.S. Zhou, W.P. Liu, J. Gan, Z.Y. Pan, Environ. Toxicol. Chem. 26 (2007) 2339.
- [59] Y. Hori, M. Fujisawaa, K. Shimadaa, M. Satoc, M. Hondac, Y. Hirosed, J. Chromatogr. B 776 (2002) 191.

- [60] O.P. Rodriguez, G.W. Muth, C.E. Berkman, K. Kim, C.M. Thompson, Bull. Environ. Contam. Toxicol. 58 (1997) 171.
- [61] W.P. Liu, J.Y. Gan, D. Schlenk, W.A. Jury, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 102 (2005) 701.
- [62] M.G. Nillos, G. Rodriguez-Fuentes, J. Gan, D. Schlenk, Environ. Toxicol. Chem. 26 (2007) 1949.
- [63] E. Pitarch, F.J. Lopez, R. Serrano, F. Hernandez, Fresenius J. Anal. Chem. 369 (2001) 502.
- [64] E. Pitarch, R. Serrano, F.J. Lopez, F. Hernandez, Anal. Bioanal. Chem. 376 (2003) 189.
- [65] J.L. Jarman, W.J. Jones, L.A. Howell, A.W. Garrison, J. Agric. Food Chem. 53 (2005) 6175.
 [66] Z.Y. Li, Z.C. Zhang, L. Zhang, L. Leng, Bull. Environ. Contam. Toxicol. 79 (2007)
- 153. [67] Z. V. J. Z. C. Zhang, L. Zhang, L. Leing, Bull. Environ. Containt. Toxicol. 79 (2007) [67] Z. V. J. Z. C. Zhang, O.L. Zhan, B.V. Cao, O.S. Wang, L. Chromatogr. A 077 (2002)
- [67] Z.Y. Li, Z.C. Zhang, Q.L. Zhou, R.Y. Gao, Q.S. Wang, J. Chromatogr. A 977 (2002) 17.